1965

Laurence Vause v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Olsen Welding and Machine Shop, and the State Insurance Fund : Brief of Plaintiff

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This was a claim of an occupational disease under the Industrial Act filed by the plaintiff herein, with the Industrial Commission of Utah. The claim of the plaintiff is that of an occupational disease known as silicosis under 35-2-27 (27) U.C.A., 1953, or other occupational diseases as provided for in 35-2-27 (28) U.C.A., 1953.

DISPOSITION IN INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

The Industrial Commission adopted a medical panel report which found, after examination of the plaintiff,

that the plaintiff was 100% disabled from arteriosclerosis, arterio hypertension, sclerotic and hypertensive heart disease, angina pectoris, chronic bronchitis and lung fibrosis and pulmonary emphysema. The Medical Panel reports stated that the disability was combined non-industrial causes. The Industrial Commission in its order and findings ruled that the disabilities of the plaintiff were non-occupational diseases. The Industrial Commission further ruled that plaintiff's claim was barred by the statute of limitations, 35-2-48, U.C.A., 1953. The Industrial Commission failed to make a finding as to the date of the disability of the plaintiff.

RELIEF SOUGHT IN SUPREME COURT

The plaintiff seeks a review of the decision and order of the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah and petitions the Supreme Court, that upon a review of the records and the merits of this case to make an Order granting plaintiff compensation under the Industrial Act under the State of Utah as provided by law, and making an Order that the plaintiff is entitled to compensation under the Industrial Act of the State of Utah by virtue of the occupational diseases suffered by the plaintiff in the course of his employment, and to remand the matter to the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah to comply with said Order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January the 28th, 1953, the plaintiff was given a medical examination for employment with the Wheelwright Construction Company for work at the Hillfield Air Force

Base near Ogden, Utah; said physical examination disclosed the lung and heart of Mr. Vause to be in good condition, that he could work around dust, fumes, smoke or gases, and the only impairment was the potential bilateral hernia (R. 3, 5, 6, 7). Plaintiff commenced working for Olsen Welding & Machine Shop Company in the capacity of a welder in the month of May, 1953, in which he continued to March the 2nd, 1963 (R. 3). On August 17, 1961, plaintiff visited and made an office call to Douglas C. Barker explaining of a primary problem of progressive inability to breath for over three years (TR. 99). Dr. Barker saw and examined Mr. Vause many times subsequent to August the 17th, 1961. The primary problem which was sought to be treated was shortness of breath with exertion while he was working around the fumes of his welding occupation (TR. 101). Plaintiff continued to work at his employment despite his physical condition. It was not until March 2nd, 1963, that Dr. Barker examined the plaintiff by reason of severe chest pains and that there had been no previous complaints by the plaintiff to Dr. Barker concerning said plaintiff until March 2nd, 1963 (TR. 101). Dr. Barker was not aware of any heart condition of Mr. Vause, the plaintiff, until the month of February, 1963 (TR. 103). Plaintiff was hospitalized on February 22, 1963, and again on April 29, 1963 (TR. 104). On April 24, 1963, plaintiff filed a statement regarding accident with State Insurance Fund of the State of Utah describing the date of the accident as of March 2nd, 1963, and describing a lung and heart condition (R. 4). This application to the State Insurance Fund was made upon advice of state employees that this was the place to file a claim of this type of dis-

ability. After a prolonged period of not having heard from the State Insurance Fund on his application, the plaintiff sent a letter, together with a printed occupational disease claim of employee which was filed with the Industrial Commission of Utah and dated June 7th, 1963, and received by the Industrial Commission of Utah on June 8th, 1963, in which Mr. Vause, the plaintiff, described the same conditions and also the same information that he submitted to the State Insurance Fund on April 24, 1963; that said letter requested Industrial Commission to meet with the State Insurance Fund on the matter and advise Mr. Vause the status thereof (R. 2, 3). On June 18th, 1963, the State Insurance Fund advised the Industrial Commission by letter that it was still investigating the case and would notify the Industrial Commission of its position after it had completed its investigation (R. 10). On August 21, 1963, Thomas S. Taylor, attorney for the plaintiff, wrote to the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah reciting that the plaintiff, Mr. Vause, had not heard from the State Insurance Fund until May 31, 1963, at which time Mr. Vause was informed by State Insurance Fund that they did not know whether his condition was under a Workmen's Compensation Law or under the Occupational Disease Law; and during this interim of time, several medical report statements had been quoted to the State Insurance Fund and requesting an opportunity to be heard before the Industrial Commission (R. 19, 20). On September 12, 1963, the Industrial Commission wrote to the State Insurance Fund advising them that the plaintiff, Mr. Vause, would be examined by its medical panel on October 5, 1963 (R. 22). On September 12, 1963, Mr. Vause, plaintiff, was

advised and requested by the Industrial Commission of Utah to report to the Wasatch Pathologic Laboratories for a series of laboratory tests and to report on October the 5th, 1963, in Salt Lake City for a complete physical examination by the Medical Panel (R. 23). On August 5, 1963, the Medical Panel made its report on the plaintiff, which report stated that the plaintiff was 100% disabled but that the disability was caused by non-occupational causes and that his medical condition was arteriosclerosis, arterio hypertension; sclerotic and hypertensive heart disease; angina pectoris; chronic bronchitis and lung fibrosis, and pulmonary emphysema. That said disability was from combined industrial causes (R. 30). Plaintiff was advised of the findings of the medical panel and a copy of the same sent to the plaintiff on October 25, 1963 (R. 33). On November 8, 1963, plaintiff through his attorney, timely objected to the medical panel findings except that no exception was made to the 100% disability found by the medical panel; stating that it was the plaintiff's position that his disability was industrially caused and requesting a formal hearing before the Industrial Commission (R. 35, 36). On June 3, 1964, plaintiff's attorney once again requested a hearing before the Industrial Commission, reciting factual information and enclosing a copy of the previous medical report of Mr. Vause, the plaintiff, which shows his lungs and heart condition to be good at the time that he worked for Wheelwright Construction Company at Hillfield Air Force Base near Ogden, Utah (R. 43, 44, 45). On August 15, 1964, the medical panel sent down another medical report reciting the same information as the former medical panel report (R. 46). On September 21, 1964, the plain-

tiff, through his attorney, timely filed a second objection to the medical panel report except that no objection was made to the 100% disability found and, once again requesting before the Industrial Commission (R. 49). A hearing was finally granted by the Industrial Commission and was heard September the 16th, 1964, in Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 53). At the time of the hearing, Dr. Barker testified for and on behalf of the plaintiff and testified that in his opinion it was within the realm of reasonable probability that pulmonary emphysema would contribute to or aggravate the condition diagnosed as angina pectoris (TR. 106). Dr. Barker further testified that the environment in which the plaintiff, Mr. Vause, was working as a welder in the fumes and the dust that existed during his employment, that such a condition and environment would either cause or aggravate pulmonary emphysema (TR. 107, 108). Dr. Barker further testified that pulmonary emphysema and angina pectoris are both disabling conditions so far as the welding trade occupation of the plaintiff is concerned. Dr. Barker further testified that there was a relationship between the pulmonary emphysema and angina pectoris (TR. 109). Dr. Elmer M. Kilpatrick, one of the medical panel experts, testified that one can not entirely divorce the respiration system from the circulatory system because they work together as a unit to produce the necessary ingress and egress of air, diffusion of gases, circulation of blood, diffusion of waste products and gases, and etc (TR. 61). Dr. Kilpatrick further testified that it was difficult to figure out exactly the percentage attributable to each diagnosis in the case of the plaintiff, Mr. Vause, that is pulmonary emphysema and angina pectoris (TR. 61). Dr.

Kilpatrick further testified that it was very likely that the plaintiff would not dwell on the infections he had had, which would be infections in the lungs developing pulmonary emphysema (TR. 62). Dr. Kilpatrick further states that the things like dust, field dust, house dust, chemical and physical agents, car exhaust fumes, paints, various things in a category of inhalents aggravate and cause such respiratory conditions; that these chemicals and physical irritants can be an aggravator to the end product on the bronchial condition (TR. 64). Dr. Kilpatrick states that a disease such as pulmonary emphysema becomes disabling as a matter of degree and depending upon the person's own motivation to work (TR. 75). Dr. Kilpatrick admits that pulmonary emphysema is a disabling disease and can be a totally disabling disease (TR. 74). Dr. Kilpatrick testified that pulmonary emphysema can either be caused or aggravated by inhalation of silicate dust, metal dust, welding fumes, and other things of this nature (TR. 76). Dr. Kilpatrick testified that chronic bronchitis and lung fibrosis, either of them can be caused or aggravated by the inhalation of silicate dust, metal dust, welding fumes and things of that nature (TR. 77). Dr. Kilpatrick testified that in the case of the plaintiff, the pulmonary emphysema did aggravate the condition described as angina pectoris (TR. 79). Dr. Ernest Wilkinson testified for and on behalf of the plaintiff at the Industrial Commission hearing that in his opinion the pulmonary emphysema and chronic lung disease slowly progressed over the years and that employment environment of dust and fumes was a contributing factor and an aggravating cause of the coronary insufficiency (TR. 89). Dr. Wilkinson further testified that

in his opinion welding fumes, metal dust, silicate dust, infection, environment did aggravate the condition known as pulmonary emphysema and angina pectoris (TR. 92). Mr. Ross D. Holmes, a fellow employee of plaintiff, testified for and on behalf of the plaintiff as to the environment in which Mr. Vause was working for 8 years, which consisted of a poorly ventilated building in which welding fumes, metal dust, and silicate and sand dust were present during the working hours of the plaintiff (TR. 120). Mr. Holmes observed the necessity for the plaintiff to stop working intermittently and go outside and get fresh air and observed on March the 2nd, 1963, that Mr. Vause became violently ill and had to leave work; that Mr. Olsen, the employer, was there at the time and observed the same (TR. 120, 121, 122). Mr. William Deamudeen, a fellow employee of plaintiff, testified that the work performed by the plaintiff consisted of grinding upon metal which had considerable cement and had sand and gravel on the same (TR. 125). Mr. Deamudeen described in detail the difficult working conditions and the poor ventilation in which there was dust and fumes also continuously present during the working hours of the plaintiff (TR. 126). The plaintiff himself testified the grinding wheels used to grind down the welding projects in which dust and fumes emitted during the working hours consisted of silicate carbide and other types containing silicate that created dust and filled the lungs of the plaintiff during his working hours (TR. 129, 130). Plaintiff testified that he never had any heart problems that he was aware in his lifetime except after working for Olsen Welding and Machine Shop Company, that his lungs did not bother him until he commenced work.

ing for Olsen Welding & Machine Shop Company (TR. 131, 132).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION OF UTAH ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE CLAIM OF THE PLAINTIFF HEREIN, LAURENCE VAUSE, WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, 35-2-48 (b) U.C.A. 1953.

POINT II

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF'S DISABILITY IS NOT THE RESULT OF AN OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE.

POINT III

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE PLAINTIFF'S DISABILITY COMMENCED MARCH THE 2nd, 1963, AND SAID INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND ANY SPECIFIC DATE OF DISABILITY AT WHICH TIME THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS COMMENCED TO RUN.

POINT IV

THE PLAINTIFF QUALIFIES FOR COMPENSATION UNDER (35-2-27) (27) AND (28) U.C.A 1953.

POINT V

INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION AND THE MEDICAL PANEL ERRED AND FAILED TO COMPLY WITH 35-2-29 AND 35-2-50 U.C.A. 1953.

POINT VI

INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE A FINDING AS TO WHETHER OR NOT THE CONDITION OF MR. VAUSE, THE PLAINTIFF, IS SILICOSIS OR THE OTHER DISEASE AS IS COMPENSIBLE UNDER THE UTAH STATUTE UNDER 35-2-27 (27) AND (28) U.C.A. 1953; THAT THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE A FINDING AS TO THE EXACT DATE OF THE DISABILITY OF THE PLAINTIFF.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION OF UTAH ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE CLAIM OF THE PLAINTIFF HEREIN, LAURENCE VAUSE, WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, 35-2-48 (b) U.C.A. 1953.

On March the 2nd, 1963, Mr. Laurence Vause was working for Olsen Welding & Machine Shop, and had been working for said employer in the capacity of a welder from May of 1955 to and including March the 2nd, 1963 (R. 3). On August the 17th, 1961, Mr. Vause visited and made an office call to Dr. Douglas C. Barker, complaining of a primary problem as progressive inability to breathe for over three years (TR. 99). Dr. Barker saw and examined Mr. Vause many times subsequent to August the 17th, 1961. The primary problem which was sought to be treated was shortness of breath with exertion when he was working around the fumes of his welding occupation (TR. 101). It was not until March the 2nd, 1963, that Dr. Barker ex-

amined Mr. Vause by reason of severe chest pains and that there had been no previous complaints by Mr. Vause to Dr. Barker concerning chest pains until March the 2nd, 1963 (TR. 101). Dr. Barker was not aware of any heart condition of Mr. Vause until the month of February, 1963 (TR. 103). Mr. Vause was hospitalized on February the 22nd, 1963, and again on April the 29th, 1963, for his heart condition and the pain in his chest (TR. 104). On April 24th, 1963, Mr. Laurence Vause filed a statement regarding accident with the State Insurance Fund of the State of Utah describing the date of accident as of March the 2nd, 1963, and describing a lung and heart condition (R. 4). This application to the State Insurance Fund was made upon advice of the state employees that this was the place to file a claim for this type of disability. After a prolonged period of not having heard from this State Insurance Fund on his application, Mr. Vause sent a letter together with a printed occupational disease claim of employee which was filed with the Industrial Commission and dated June the 7th, 1963, and received by the Industrial Commission on June the 8th, 1963, in which Mr. Vause described the same conditions and also the same information that he submitted to the State Insurance Fund on April the 24th, 1963; that said letter requested the Industrial Commission to meet with the State Insurance Fund on the matter and advise Mr. Vause the status thereof (R. 2, 3). On June the 18th, 1963, the State Insurance Fund advised the Industrial Commission by letter that it was still investigating the case and would notify the Industrial Commission of its position after it had completed its investigation (R. 10).

35-2-48, U.C.A. 1953 reads as follows:

35-2-48 Limitation — Rights barred if not filed within limits. The right to compensation under this act for disability or death from the occupational disease shall be forever barred unless written claim is filed with the commission within the time as in this section hereinafter provided:

(a) If the claim is made by an employee and based upon silicosis it must be filed within one year after the cause of action arises.

(b) If the claim is made by an employee based upon a disease other than silicosis it must be filed within sixty days after the cause of action arises, except in case of benzol or its derivatives when it must be filed within ninety days.

The Industrial Commission has made no finding whatsoever on the question as to whether or not the medical condition of Mr. Vause, the plaintiff, was that of silicosis in which subsection (a) of 35-2-48 would apply as to the statute of limitations, or whether the medical condition of Mr. Vause was a disease other than silicosis in which subparagraph (b) of 35-2-48 would apply so far as the statute of limitations is concerned.

Plaintiff earnestly submits to the Court that the plaintiff has complied with the statute of limitations, 35-2-48 (a) and (b). Dr. Barker, the attending physician, testified that there were discussions and examinations of Mr. Vause prior to March the 2nd, 1963, concerning a lung condition and emphysema condition but that Mr. Vause did not quit and did not terminate his work as a result of these conditions until March the 2nd, 1963 (TR. 111, 112). The disability, occurring at the time of the heart attacks, is the time for the commencement of the running

of the statute of limitations. There is no question but what Mr. Vause, the plaintiff, had a lung condition build up and develop gradually during the time of his employment with Olsen Welding and Machine Shop, but that he was not disabled until March the 2nd, 1963. The testimony of the medical doctors examined at the time of the hearing are replete with information which indicate that the breathing of the fumes and the dust and the dirt at the place of employment activated a condition in the lungs of Mr. Vause that had been building up over a period of time. March the 2nd, 1963, being the date of disability, the sixty-day period under 35-2-48 (b) would not expire until sixty days after March the 2nd, 1963, or May the 2nd, 1963. The application was filed by the plaintiff with the State Insurance Fund on April the 24th, 1963, within this sixty day period. 35-2-12 U.C.A., 1953, reads in part as follows:

- (a) " 'Disablement' means the event of becoming physically incapacitated by reason of an occupational disease as defined in this act from performing any work for remuneration or profit. Silicosis, as defined in this act, when complicated by active pulmonary tuberculosis, shall be presumed to be total disablement. 'Disability,' 'disabled,' 'total disability,' or 'totally disabled' shall be synonymous with 'disablement,' but they shall have no reference to 'partial permanent disability.' "

It is clear from the above Statute that the Plaintiff herein, Mr. Vause, was not actually "disabled" until he was in fact physically incapacitated by reason of the occupational disease from performing any work for remuneration or profit. This did not occur to Mr. Vause until March

2, 1963, the date that he finally terminated from Olsen Welding and Machine Shop Company. Even though there was a progressive deterioration in the lungs over a period of his employment with Olsen Welding and Machine Shop Company, he was not in fact "disabled" as provided by the Statute until he was in fact terminated from his employment and in fact received no remuneration from his work or any other source that he was entitled to under the Industrial Act. The evidence is uncontroverted and undisputed that Mr. Vause, the Plaintiff, was not disabled until March 2, 1963.

This Court has held in the case of *Ban & Kariya Company vs. Industrial Commission*, 67 Utah 301, 247 P. 490, that the State Insurance Fund is not itself a corporation nor any other legal entity; it is but a quorum of the department of machinery set up by the Workmen's Compensation Act under the control and management of the Industrial Commission.

In the case of *Utah Delaware Mining Company vs. Industrial Commission*, 76 Utah 187, 289 P. 94, this Court has ruled that an application for compensation filed with the State Insurance Fund within the statutory period of one year after the accident, addressed to both the State Insurance Fund and to the Industrial Commission setting forth all necessary jurisdictional facts with the State Insurance Fund, so called, and making claim for compensation, this has the same effect as if it had been directly filed with the Industrial Commission or with its secretary or clerk.

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