1965

Laurence Vause v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Olsen Welding and Machine Shop, and the State Insurance Fund : Respondent's Brief

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

to be carried on, supervised or controlled by the commission of finance agreeably to the provisions of this title, and it is vested with full authority over said fund. It may do any and all things whether herein specifically designated or not which are necessary or convenient in the administration thereof or in connection with the insurance business carried on by it under the provisions of this title as fully and completely as the governing body of a private insurance carrier. * * *

Appellant appears to be aware of this change in jurisdiction because he indirectly raises without argument a question of estoppel by stating the initial claim made to the State Insurance Fund “. . . was made upon the advice of the state employees that this was the place to file a claim for this type of disability” (appellant’s brief, page 11). However, there is nothing in the record to substantiate this assertion and no evidence was introduced by the appellant on the matter. He raises the question for the first time on appeal.

Appellant also contends that the Industrial Commission made no finding whatsoever as to whether the condition of the appellant was that of silicosis, in which event subsection (a) of 35-2-48 would apply as the statute of limitation.

35-2-48

(a) If the claim is made by an employee and based upon silicosis it must be filed within one year after the cause of action arises.

Respondent submits that appellant’s stance with regard to this contention is without merit. The appellant did not claim silicosis in his application and there is no

testimony or evidence in the record to support a finding of said disease.

Respondent's argument thus far assumes the appellant's cause of action began running from March 3, 1963, said construction being the time most favorable for the appellant and, indeed, what he claims. However, the record clearly indicates that appellant had knowledge of his disability several years prior to March 2, 1963. In a similar case, *State Insurance Fund v. Industrial Commission* (1949), 116 Utah 279, 209 P. 2d 558, the employee discontinued his work as a welder after 22 years of continuous employment on account of difficulty in breathing. He had been almost continuously exposed to harmful fumes during the last five or six years of this employment, and he had suffered from a shortness of breath which had become progressively worse. The Court found the applicant's disease was not silicosis nor benzol or its derivatives and that the statute of limitations was the sixty day period after the cause of action arose. The Court held that in such a situation the cause of action would arise when an ascertainable and compensable disability resulted at 209 P. 2d 558, 560, it said:

The cause of action arises in this kind of a case when the employee suffers compensable disability under the act and could by reasonable diligence ascertain that his disability was employment caused and by its nature compensable. But ignorance of the requirements of the law does not postpone the accrual of a cause of action.

Here, as in the California case, the evidence does not fully disclose whether applicant used due diligence to ascertain whether his disability was

compensable or not. While it is evident that he believed that his disability was caused by the harmful fumes which he was exposed to in the course of his employment, and that he obtained and took to his doctor certain blanks from the Industrial Commission to be filled out in connection with a claim for compensation, it is not clear why a thorough examination was not made at that time. If he failed to discover at that time that his disability was compensable because the doctor did not correctly diagnose his case, and he was thereby misled into believing that his disability was not occupationally caused or by its nature was not compensable, and he acted reasonably under the circumstances in not having a complete examination made sooner, then his cause of action is not barred. But if on account of his own failure to press his case or have a complete examination made under circumstances which would reasonably put him on notice that he was probably entitled to compensation, he failed to discover that his disability was compensable, then the fault is his own and he cannot recover.

It is respondent's contention that appellant knew of his lung condition prior to the date of his heart attack on March 3, 1963, and that he believed this disability was caused or aggravated by his working conditions. Certainly he was aware of it as early as January 19, 1960 (R. 84, 85). Thus, within the guidelines drawn by the above cited case, the respondent submits that the statute of limitations would preclude appellant's claim for compensation in any event, even though it is held that his claim filed with the State Insurance Fund on March 24, 1963, was in compliance with 35-2-6, U.C.A., 1953:

35-2-6 Claims to be filed with commission -
Claims filed under this act shall be filed with the
(Industrial) commission in triplicate, and imme-
diately after such filing one of such triplicate
copies shall be forwarded by mail to the employer
and insurance carrier.

In *American Mud & Chemical Co. v. Industrial Commission* (1965) 16 Utah 2d 246, 398 P. 2d 889, the Court affirmed an Industrial Commission award granting compensation on an occupational disease claim of silicosis. The Court upheld the Industrial Commission's determination that the claimant filed his claim within one year after his cause of action arose. The Court held that total disability from occupational disease, for the purpose of computing limitations on claims, refers to a disability affecting claimant's ability to perform any work with which to support himself and his dependents; in each case the effect of physical injury or illness differs according to abilities of applicant and the statute should not be construed so as to penalize independent or versatile workers. Further, it held that the claimant knew earlier that he had silicosis but did not establish as a matter of law that he knew that he had a compensable disease, for the purpose of computing the limitation on his claim.

It would appear that the American Mud case is in conflict with the State Insurance Fund v. Industrial Commission case cited above excepting that the Court may have found in the Mud case that the Commission had sufficient evidence to support its finding and that as stated on 398 P. 2d 891 of the American Mud case:

Although there is little conflict in the evidence, the inferences to be drawn from them are within the peculiar province of the Commission and will not be overturned in absence of a clear abuse or misinterpretation, U.C.A. 1953, 35-1-84; Tintic Standard Min. Co. v. Ind. Comm., 100 Utah 96, 110 P. 2d 367.

Respondent submits that if the cases above cited are to be construed together, circumstances of the case at bar are more similar to the facts set forth in State Insurance Fund than those set forth in the American Mud, and that the evidence supports a finding by the Industrial Commission that the applicant had knowledge of his disability, believed it to be one which was compensable, and having this knowledge failed to file his claim within sixty days.

POINT II.

INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S DIS- ABILITY IS NOT THE RESULT OF AN OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE.

Appellant's contention that the order of the Industrial Commission, wherein it found that the applicant's disabilities were caused by non-occupational diseases, was not rendered upon the evidence cannot be substantiated by the record. The medical testimony presented to the Industrial Commission was not only adequate but uncontradicted in establishing the non-occupational origins of the disease causing the applicant's disability. Dr. Kilpatrick, chairman of the medical

panel examining the applicant, stated that his disabilities were due to non-occupational conditions. He stated that the panel after an examination of the appellant on October 5, 1963, found the disorders to be "arteriosclerosis, arterial hypertension, sclerotic and hypertensive heart disease, with angina pectoris, chronic bronchitis and lung fibrosis, and pulmonary emphysema." (R. 58). He further testified that the panel reconsidered its preliminary findings on August 15, 1964, and on the basis of the facts that were available, determined that there existed no reason for the panel to modify its previous opinion. As to which of the listed conditions were determinative in producing the applicant's disability, the doctor had this to say:

Now if we consider the diagnoses — as I read, and as are listed in this Panel Report — by far his disability feature was his heart disease, his hardened arteries — the arteries of the heart muscle — producing what we concluded was a condition of impaired circulation through the heart, producing then pain which was his reason for quitting work, directly attributable to a degenerative process of hardening of the arteries, which had been developing a long time. Now this certainly is not an occupational disease.

We concluded that of course he had some irritating features of welding smoke, but the overall comparison of this single feature, compared to all the other things to which he was subjected to in his own living — infections, daily exposure to fumes, smokes, irritants — that we could not come to a real percentage disability of his work causal relationship. Seemingly it would be so small to consider as a major feature for his disability. (R. 64, 65.)

Testifying as to the applicant's lung condition of bronchitis and emphysema, Dr. Kilpatrick stated that this condition develops over a long number of years. "It is not developed in a matter of two or three years. It's a slow slow process." (R. 63.)

On cross-examination, an exchange occurred between Mr. Taylor, counsel for the appellant, and the doctor which is relevant to the point under consideration.

MR TAYLOR: Q. Doctor, as I understand your testimony, is it your opinion that the inhalation of metal fumes and welding smoke would aggravate the condition that you have described as pulmonary emphysema?

A. Well, pulmonary emphysema is never a primary disease. That is secondary to some other condition. (R. 74.)

Later, in response to Mr. Taylor's questioning regarding the assignment of percentages to the various disease responsible for the applicant's disability, Dr. Kilpatrick answered:

A. Well, that is a real job. For an analysis, to put interwoven disease conditions on a percentage basis, would be a wide range where you might be wrong. But we attempted to list the diagnoses in order of their importance. So—with chronic bronchitis, and lung fibrosis of pulmonary emphysema at the end—it implied that we thought he was disabled more for his heart and blood vessel disorder than he was from his lung condition. (R. 83.)

Dr. Ernest Wilkinson testified that the applicant's pulmonary emphysema and chronic lung disease could

be a contributing factor to the applicant's coronary insufficiency. However, he testified that it would not effect a coronary vessel disease (R. 90). At no time was Dr. Douglas C. Barker asked whether the condition that he found at the time he examined the applicant in January of 1960 directly related to his occupation. He did, however, state that the disease of pulmonary emphysema could be aggravated by the applicant's working conditions.

Dr. Douglas C. Barker testified that he attended the applicant upon his hospitalization on the 22nd day of February, 1963, and again on the 29th day of April, 1963. He stated that he had hospitalized the applicant because of his heart condition. When asked if the work environment could have aggravated or caused the condition described as angina pectoris, the doctor said it would not but would, however, aggravate the condition of pulmonary emphysema (R. 108, 109). "I can state a qualified yes, as far as aggravation. Cause again, as has been reiterated by the other two physicians, is a complicated interrelated problem, so I can't give you an answer on that."

Appellant at page 16 of his brief suggests that Dr. Barker stated the applicant's working environment would either cause or aggravate pulmonary emphysema. This is misleading because the reading of the doctor's testimony clearly indicates the condition could at most aggravate the disease. Again, on page 18 of appellant's brief, he suggests that Dr. Kilpatrick testified "that pulmonary emphysema can either be caused or aggra-

vated by the inhalation of silica dust, metal dust, welding fumes, and other things of this nature." A review of the doctor's testimony in its entirety indicates that the doctor's opinion regarding the applicant's case was to the effect that his working environment could only have aggravated the pulmonary emphysema which was determined to be of non-occupational origin.

In *Higgins v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 1947, 27 Wash. 2d 816, 180 P. 2d 559, 560, 561. Claimant, a fireman for stationary boilers, with a condition diagnosed as pulmonary emphysema, appealed from a denial of his claim. He described his "accident" as follows:

Shoveling coal firing b(a)ttery of five to seven boilers, (nine foot) fire box. Examining doctor said I had a weak heart before going to work on this job. The heavy work shoveling and firing with intense heat prevailing on the job and continued sandstorms caused my heart to give out completely could not breathe and strength gave out.

The doctors produced testified, as in the case at bar, that his lung condition was not *caused* but only *aggravated* by his work. The Court affirmed the denial of applicant's claim.

It is clear then that the Industrial Commission had the unanimous opinion of the medical experts that the appellant's disability was primarily due to his heart condition which had some relationship to his lung condition, but that the lung condition was a slowly progressive situation only aggravated but not caused by the

working environment of the applicant. The Commission's conclusion, therefore, that the applicant's disability was non-occupational is substantiated overwhelmingly by the evidence and should be affirmed by the Court. *Edlund v. Industrial Commission* (1952), 122 Utah 238, 248 P. 2d 365; *Burton v. Industrial Commission* (1962), 13 Utah 2d 353, 374 P. 2d 439.

POINT III.

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THE PLAINTIFF'S DISABILITY COMMENCED MARCH 2, 1963 AND SAID INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND ANY SPECIFIC DATE OF DISABILITY AT WHICH TIME THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS COMMENCED TO RUN.

Respondent submits that there were sufficient facts upon which to base the conclusion that the statute of limitations had run on the appellant's claim. This point was argued by respondent in Point I of this brief. The only additional issue raised is whether or not the Commission was bound in its order denying applicant's claim to set forth findings specifically denoting from what exact period appellant's cause of action began to run. The applicable statute in effect at the time the Commission's order was entered reads as follows:

35-1-85. Duty of commission to make findings of fact and conclusions of law — Filing — Conclusiveness on questions of fact — Review — Court judgment. — After each formal hearing, it shall be the duty of the commission to make

findings of fact and conclusions of law in writing and file the same with its secretary. The findings and conclusions of the commission on questions of fact shall be conclusive and final and shall not be subject to review; such questions of fact shall include ultimate facts and the findings and conclusions of the commission. The commission and every party to the action or proceeding before the commission shall have the right to appear in the review proceeding. Upon the hearing in the court shall enter judgment either affirming or setting aside the award.

Respondent respectfully submits that the Commission's order did include "ultimate facts and the findings and conclusions of the commission." As stated in *Looser v. Industrial Commission* (1959), 9 Utah 2d 81, 337 P. 2d 965, 966:

. . . it is obvious from the record that although the Commission did not denominate its recitation of facts as "Findings of Fact," the facts were recited in its order as extensively as they would have been set forth under a separate caption. Findings of fact, however denominated, and although not as articulate as to nature and form as we might choose to have them, are not doomed for those reasons only, if substantial compliance with the letter and spirit of the statute has been effectuated, as we think they have here, where, but for an appellation the findings in the order would have sufficed.

Finally, respondent contends that if error exists it was harmless, for appellant's claim must fail even upon consideration of its substantive merits.

POINT IV.

THE APPELLANT DOES NOT QUALIFY FOR COMPENSATION UNDER (35-2-27) (27) and (28), U.C.A., 1953.

35-2-27. Occupational diseases. For the purposes of this act only the diseases enumerated in this section shall be deemed to be the occupational diseases;

(27) Silicosis.

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